## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ARCHITEX ASSOCIATION, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2008-CA-01353

SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE COMPANY

**APPELLEE** 

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi Twentieth Judicial District

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

DORSEY CARSON, JR., MSB # CHERI TURNAGE GATLIN, MSB # BURR & FORMAN LLP
The Heritage Building
401 East Capitol Street, Suite 100
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: (601) 355-3434
Facsimile: (601) 355-5150
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ARCHITEX ASSOCIATION, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2008-CA-01353

# SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Rankin County Circuit Court held that a construction defect resulting from acts of a subcontractor cannot be an "accident or occurrence" that would trigger coverage under a CGL insurance policy. The questions of first impression before this Court are as follows:

- 1. Is an inadvertent construction defect arising out of a subcontractor's work that causes bodily injury or property damage considered an "accident or occurrence" under a contractor's Commercial General Liability ("CGL") insurance?
- 2. If so, does Scottsdale Insurance Company ("Scottsdale") have a duty to defend Architex and provide coverage in the action filed by Vikram Parshotham ("Parshotham") and CIS Pearl, Inc. ("CIS"), (collectively, the "Plaintiffs") according to the CGL policy issued to Architex by Scottsdale?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Architex Association, Inc. ("Architex") is a general contractor that was hired to complete the construction of the Country Inn and Suites in Pearl, Mississippi. Before beginning work on the project, Architex secured insurance from Scottsdale Insurance Company ("Scottsdale") under a Commercial General Liability ("CGL") policy on or about June 29, 1999. Scottsdale issued policy numbers CLS0527059 and CLS0728184 to Architex. These policies are modeled after the Insurance Services Office Broad Form Property Damage Endorsement No. CG 00 57 09 99. Architex has ceased its business operations due to the cost of the current litigation, but while in business as a general contractor, Architex paid Scottsdale premiums in exchange for protection under the CGL policy at issue in this case, including premiums specifically designated to cover the acts of subcontractors. (Vol. 1, Ex. 2 at unpaginated 12, 42 Commercial General Liability Coverage Part Extension of Supplemental Declarations; RE 1).

Vikram Parshotham ("Parshotham") and CIS Pearl, Inc. ("CIS") filed suit against Architex on July 31, 2002, for alleged breaches and negligence arising out of the construction of the Country Inn and Suites in Pearl, Mississippi. (R. at 45; RE 2). The complaint contained counts for breach of contract, negligence, claims on the performance bond, and slander of title. (R. at 45; RE 2). Years after filing suit, the plaintiffs further claimed that as a result of Architex's negligence, or that of one or more of Architex's subcontractors, damage has been caused to the property through lack of sufficient rebar in the foundation, water intrusion, mold and mildew intrusion, and rusting of fixtures and hardware. All parties acknowledge that Architex did not perform any work on the project and that all work was completed through subcontractors.<sup>1</sup>

The following is a list of subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, manufacturers and/or suppliers who performed work on the Project and/or supplied materials: (1) A-1 Roofing and Guttering Co.; (2) Ainsworth Pool Tech; (3) American HinTech; (4) Apex Supply; (5) Aqua-Lawn; (6) Ark-La-Tex

On or around October 5, 2004, Architex and prior counsel for Architex provided Scottsdale with notice of the September 30, 2004 claim that there was structural damage caused by lack of sufficient rebar. (Vol. 1, Ex. 5; RE 3). In response to the notice of claim, Scottsdale provided Architex with a "reservation of rights" letter on October 8, 2004. (Vol. 1, Ex. 7; RE 4). The language of Scottsdale's letter was unclear, as it did not deny or accept coverage or defense, nor did Scottsdale reserve its rights in a traditional sense by tendering coverage or defense to Architex while an investigation was pending. *Id*.

Prior counsel for Architex provided Scottsdale with a copy of the complaint. Architex's prior counsel testified that he sent one copy in 2004, and all parties agree that Scottsdale received a copy of the complaint by at least April 2005. (Vol. 1, Ex. 9 at 77, 84-85; RE 5). Having received no response from Scottsdale, Architex was granted leave to file a third-party complaint against Scottsdale seeking indemnity and payment of defense costs and expenses. (Vol. 2, Ex. 13; RE 6). On September 6, 2006, Scottsdale denied the claim without investigation into the allegations of the complaint, the plaintiff's new claim for mold and mildew, or the claim for lack of sufficient rebar. (Vol. 1, Ex. 12; RE 7). By letter to Scottsdale's counsel, Architex again notified Scottsdale of the prior claims on September 18, 2006, including the recently discovered mold and mildew claims alleged by CIS and Parshotham. (Vol. 1, Ex. 10; RE 8).

Wallsource, Inc.; (7) Bailey Electric; (8) Bemis; (9) Bend of the River; (10) Cajun Carpets; (11) Callender Enterprises; (12) Central Asphalt; (13) Chris-More, Inc.; (14) Concrete Creations; (15) Continental Construction; (16) Custom Millworks; (17) Daltile; (18) David Futrell; (19) Delta Faucet Co.; (20) Elizer; (21) Flag Source; (22) Griggs & Son Construction; (23) Helping Hand; (24) Hi-tower Gycrete; (25) Holley Construction; (26) Hughes Brothers Plumbing; (27) Ilco; (28) Imperial Contract Wallcoverings; (29) Ivy Waltman, Inc.; (30) Jackson Ready Mix; (31) John Matthews; (32) Kaba-Ilco; (33) KD Construction; (34) Konover Swinerton; (35) L&B Construction; (36) Lexmark Carpet Mills; (37) McKay Drywall; (38) Masterchem Inc.; (39) Mike Rasmussen; (40) Old South Brick & Supply; (41) Pre-build Co.; (42) Prem Supply; (43) Puckett Rents; (44) R&R Mechanical; (45) Roadrunner Lock Co.; (46) Roger Dooley; (47) Schindler Elevator; (48) Smart Landscapes; (49) Southeast Automatic Sprinkler; (50) Southeast Wholesale Door; (51) Tandem Staffings; (52) The Carpet Expert; (53) Thrasher Door & Hardware; (54) Valiant Products Corporation; (55) Waste Management; and (56) Wickes Lumber.

Charles Buchanan, Scottsdale's 30(b)(6) designee for specific areas of inquiry, testified in his July 9, 2007 deposition that after receiving notice of the claims against Architex, it hired Crawford & Company, an insurance investigation and appraisal service, to investigate the claims. Architex's prior counsel testified that he spoke with Chad Thrash, an investigator with Crawford. (Vol. 4, Ex. 4 at 14, 23, 33; RE 9). Crawford reported to Scottsdale in a letter dated November 23, 2004, and received on December 7, 2004. (Vol. 1. Ex. 9 at 53; RE 10). The letter acknowledged that Architex's counsel had already produced documents and was willing to produce any additional documentation related to the claims. (Vol. 4, Ex. 4 at 24-25; Vol. 4, Ex. 4B; RE 9). The letter then proceeded to close the investigation file as Crawford's only task was to obtain a statement from Vic Hamby, Architex's CFO and Vice-President, and Crawford did not complete that task because it was informed by Architex's prior counsel that he and Larry Bielski, Architex's project manager, had more information than Vic Hamby. (Vol. 1., Ex. 9 at 52-54; RE 10; Vol. 1, Ex. 11 at 27, 32, 34-35, 41-43, 71, 75-80; RE 11). During that same deposition, Charles Buchanan also admitted that Scottsdale was unaware of the mold and mildew claims because he had not seen the September 18, 2006 letter that had been sent to its attorneys. He then admitted that the presence of mold and mildew in the building provided an arguable basis for coverage under the CGL policy. (Vol. 1, Ex. 9 at 98-108; RE 12). Another 30(b)(6) representative for Scottsdale also admitted that in sixteen of twenty-five construction defect cases pending in Mississippi since 2000, Scottsdale has tendered a defense and costs for its insured, and in many cases, ultimately indemnified its insured.

Architex and Scottsdale filed cross motions for summary judgment in the Circuit Court of Rankin County. Architex sought summary judgment on Scottsdale's duty to defend and provide coverage in the action filed by CIS and Parshotham while Scottsdale filed separate summary judgment motions on all bad faith and non-bad faith claims. Circuit Court Judge Kent McDaniel

found that all of Architex's claims against Scottsdale in its third amended third-party complaint should be dismissed with prejudice, but also felt constrained and stated that "it may be time for the Courts of this state to expand that language and law so as to bring construction defects under the indemnity and defense obligations included in CGL policy language." The Court also held that the CGL policy provides no coverage for the claims alleged by Parshotham and CIS, and that Scottsdale's motions for summary judgment should be granted. Architex subsequently filed this timely appeal.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

CGL carriers have, for decades, covered an owner's or contractor's damages caused by defective subcontractor work. Therefore, whether property damage caused by the faulty work of a subcontractor is considered an "accident or occurrence" under a contractor's CGL insurance policy is an issue of first impression before this Court. This Court should rule that a construction defect from negligent subcontractor work is an "occurrence" under CGL policies in Mississippi because a negligent construction defect is unintended and unexpected, and because the "Broad Form Property Damage" language of the post-1976 CGL policies contemplates coverage for defective subcontractor work. Scottsdale issued Architex a standard CGL contract drafted by the ISO, and brochures promulgated by the ISO state that the purpose of the language in the policies is to provide subcontractor coverage for faulty work. (R. at 2975 - 3001; RE 13). A narrow reading of the contract to suggest that the act of hiring a subcontractor constitutes an intentional act outside the realm of insurance coverage negates the purpose of a contractor purchasing this insurance and negates the purpose of an owner, developer, bank or other interested party requiring its purchase.

In the instant matter, Architex's position is that although it did intend to hire subcontractors to do the construction work on the Country Inn and Suites in Pearl, Mississippi, as fully disclosed in its written application, it certainly did not intend for those subcontractors to undertake any work in a manner that would cause construction defects. All contractors intend to hire workers; however, they do not intend for the subcontractors to perform defective work. To extrapolate intent back to the hiring process is not the correct analysis, as all acts are intentional on some level. The value of CGL insurance would be undermined if a contractor's act of engaging in the process of work -- the hiring of a subcontractor -- constitutes an intentional act disqualifying the contractor from coverage. The construction defects alleged in this case are

exactly the type of "occurrences" that are meant to trigger CGL coverage according to the 1976 and 1986 ISO document language that was in the CGL policy used by Scottsdale. Scottsdale contemplated its exposure for subcontractor liability when it charged and accepted premiums specifically designated for subcontractor work. Thus, Scottsdale has the duty to defend Architex as its insured.

Scottsdale has admitted that the mold and mildew claims present an arguable basis for coverage under the policy. An insurance company has a duty to defend its insured when an arguable basis for coverage exists. Not only has Scottsdale failed to defend despite knowledge that an arguable basis for coverage exists, Scottsdale has engaged in behavior indicative of bad faith. Scottsdale has also failed to investigate and to act in a manner evidencing good faith and fair dealing.

Scottsdale has admitted that it did not follow its own policies and procedures, nor did it adhere to national standards in its handling of Architex's claim. Scottsdale failed to assign Architex's claim to its construction defect group, as is its customary procedure. It only hired an investigator to get a statement from Vic Hamby, who was not the proper Architex representative. Scottsdale never inspected the property, nor did it confer with the claimant or the claimant's attorney. Scottsdale's two-year delay in issuing a letter denying coverage, also contrary to company policy, has led to Architex being forced out of business due to overwhelming litigation costs. Even then, Architex did not issue a letter denying defense and coverage until after Architex was forced to sue Scottsdale. Like Architex, other contractors will be either forced out of business, or forced to work outside of the state of Mississippi, if the Scottsdale interpretation of the CGL policy prevails. Additionally, the CGL insurance contract required of contractors by public and private owners, banks, and developers would be useless to cover bodily injury and property damage caused by subcontractor negligence.

### **ARGUMENT**

# I. A construction defect by a subcontractor constitutes an occurrence that triggers coverage under a Commercial General Liability insurance policy

The vast majority of insurance policies, including the policy at issue in this case, utilize language drafted by the Insurance Services Office ("ISO"), an insurance industry trade association. David Dekker, Douglas Green, & Stephen Palley, *The Expansion of Insurance Coverage for Defective Construction*, 28-FALL Construction Law. 19 (2008). An examination of the history of the Broad Form Property Damage ("BFPD") endorsement is instructive in determining the intent of insurers. Dekker, Green, and Palley outline the history as follows:

Before 1973, standard-form CGL policies contained an exclusion that eliminated coverage for "property damage to work performed by or on behalf of the named insured arising out of the work or any portion thereof." The "on behalf of" language under this exclusion meant that no coverage existed for damage to the insured's own work resulting from a subcontractor's defective work. Thus, under this exclusion, general contractors bore the risk that subcontractors would expose the general contractor to enormous unforeseeable damages. This was problematic for contractors, as a subcontractor doing \$10,000 in work could easily cause \$10,000,000 of damages, which of course remains the case today--scope and cost are not necessarily a reliable predictor of long-term risk.

In response to industry concern, insurance companies began offering coverage for the risk of damage to otherwise nondefective work resulting from defective subcontractor performance. This coverage became known as BFPD coverage.

Materials circulated by the insurance industry emphasized that the BFPD endorsement provided coverage to general contractors for losses arising out of subcontractor work. For example, a circular prepared by the ISO explained that "[t]he insured would have coverage for damage to his own work arising out of a subcontractor's work [and] [t]he insured would have coverage for damage to a subcontractor's work arising out of the subcontractor's work."

Through the 1970s and early 1980s there continued to be confusion about the extent of coverage provided under the BFPD endorsement. Accordingly, in 1986 ISO made that coverage a part of its standard form basic insuring agreement for general liability policies, now the CG 00 01 policy form. Although the ISO forms have continued to evolve since 1986, the BFPD coverage language, which is discussed below, has remained the same.

Post-1986 ISO CGL policies provide coverage in pertinent part for "those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of 'bodily injury' or 'property damage' to which this insurance applies." The legal obligation

to pay, however, must arise from an "occurrence," which is defined as "an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful condition." Coverage for "damages because of 'property damage" to the insured's own work is typically limited by exclusion l in the standard policy form, which excludes:

"Property damage" to "your work" arising out of it or any part of it and included in the "products-completed operations hazard." This exclusion does not apply if the damaged work or the work out of which the damage arises was performed on your behalf by a **subcontractor**. [Emphasis added.]

The final clause of exclusion 1 is commonly referred to as the "subcontractor exception" to the "your work" exclusion. This clause provides the insured with the BFPD coverage described above by excepting from the exclusion liability arising out of the defective work of subcontractors.

David Dekker, Douglas Green, & Stephen Palley, *The Expansion of Insurance Coverage for Defective Construction*, 28-FALL Construction Law. 19, 19-20 (2008) (emphasis in original).

The 1979 ISO Explanatory Memorandum of Broad Form Property Damage Coverage explains exclusion (z) in the advisory endorsement ADV.-3006-Broad Form Property Damage Endorsement Including Completed Operations. In interpreting the language subsequently adopted into the CGL policies in 1986, the memorandum stated:

- (z) This exclusion in endorsement ADV.-3006, which modifies the corresponding policy exclusion, provides broad form completed operations property damage coverage by excluding only damages caused by the named insured to his own work. Thus,
- 1. The insured would have <u>no</u> coverage for damage to his work arising out of his own work.
- 2. The insured would have coverage for damage to his work arising out of a subcontractors work.
- 3. The insured would have coverage for damage to a subcontractor's work arising out of the subcontractors work.
- 4. The insured would have coverage for damage to a subcontractor's work, or if the insured is a subcontractor to a general contractor's work, or another subcontractor's work, arising out of the insured's work.

(R. at 2977) (emphasis in original).

Before beginning work on the Country Inn and Suites, Architex purchased a CGL insurance policy from Scottsdale. In interpreting an insurance policy, all relevant portions should be considered together, and when possible, operative effect should be given to every provision in order to reach a reasonable overall result. J & W Foods Corp. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 723 So.2d 550, 552 (Miss. 1998). Mississippi law recognizes the general rule that provisions of an insurance contract are to be construed strongly against the drafters, and this Court interprets and construes insurance policies liberally in favor of the insured, especially when interpreting exceptions and limitations. Id. Section I of the policy provides in pertinent part:

### COVERAGE A: BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIABILITY

## 1. Insuring Agreement

a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which the insurance applies . . . .

#### 2. Exclusions

Damage to Your Work
 "Property damage" to "your work" arising out of it or any part of it and included in the "products completed operations hazard."

This exclusion does not apply if the damaged work or the work out of which the damage arises was performed on your behalf by a subcontractor.

The policy defines "property damage" under Section V, at Paragraph 17. "Property damage" is defined as:

- a. Physical injury to tangible property, including all resulting loss of use of that property. All such loss of use shall be deemed to occur at the time of physical injury that caused it; or
- b. Loss of use of tangible property that is not physically injured. All such loss of use shall be deemed to occur at the time of the "occurrence" that caused it.

The "products completed operations hazard" is defined in Paragraph 16 as follows:

- a. Includes all "bodily injury" and "property damage" occurring away from premises you own or rent and arising out of "your product" or "your work" except:
- (1) Products that are still in your physical possession; or
- (2) Work that has not yet been completed or abandoned. However, "your work" will be deemed completed at the earliest of the following times:
  - (a) When all of the work called for in your contract has been completed.
  - (b) When all of the work to be done at the job site has been completed if your contract calls for work at more than one job site.
  - (c) When all of the work done at a job site has been put into its intended use by any person or organization other than another contractor or subcontractor working on the same project.

Work that may need service, maintenance, correction, repair or replacement, but which is otherwise complete, will be treated as completed.

(Vol. 1, Ex. 2; RE 1).

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