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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

No "Occurrence"

In U.S.F.&G. v. Omnibank, 812 So.2d 196, 201-02 (Miss. 2002), this Court held that an insured's expected or intended act is not an "occurrence," even if it causes unexpected or unintended damage. In its appeal, Architex erroneously claims the intended acts of its subcontractors were an "occurrence" that should be covered. In light of the clear precedent in this State, Architex's position is wrong and the trial court should be affirmed.

³ Architex has included miscellaneous pages from these two volumes of exhibits in its Additional Record Excerpts tabbed 1-30.

The law regarding what constitutes an "occurrence" under a CGL policy is as stated by Chief Justice Waller in *Omnibank*. An "occurrence" is an "accident," and the term "accident" refers to the insured's action, "now whatever unintended damages flow from that act." *Id.* at 201. "[W]e hold that an insurer's duty to defend under a general commercial liability policy does not extend to negligent actions that are intentionally caused by the insured." *Id*.

The Fifth Circuit applied this holding to a construction defect case in ACS Constr. Co., Inc., of Miss. v. CGU, 332 F.3d 885 (5th Cir. 2003). The Fifth Circuit held that although a subcontractor negligently installed roofing membrane, there was no "occurrence" because "the action of installing the membrane was not accidental nor unintended." Id. at 890.

The trial court correctly explained that this case is "quite simple and . . . the controlling law on this policy language revolves around the word 'occurrence.'" The claims made by the owners against Architex do not constitute an "occurrence" under *Omnibank*. Architex and its subcontractors intended to perform the construction work that led to the claims for coverage. *Omnibank* mandates that an action that is taken intentionally, but that is performed negligently, is not accidental and not an "occurrence." Because there was no "occurrence," there is no coverage. The trial court should be affirmed.

No Notice

Architex defended itself against the owners' lawsuit for over two years with no notice whatsoever to Scottsdale. Architex conducted its defense in a manner that was prejudicial to Scottsdale by, among other things, waiving its right to arbitration, counterclaiming against the owners, and agreeing to a bench trial with a relaxed standard of proof. Architex also prevented Scottsdale from considering all procedural options, such as removal, had it accepted the defense. Even if there were coverage, and there is not, Architex's prejudicial late notice acts to defeat coverage.

No Bad Faith

Architex's bad faith claims were properly dismissed as a matter of law. In denying Architex's claims for coverage, Scottsdale relied on *Omnibank* and *ACS*. Scottsdale's understanding of *Omnibank* is legally sound. Scottsdale did not give an unreasonable meaning to *Omnibank*. The Fifth Circuit in *ACS*, Mississippi federal district courts,⁴ the trial court, and even a Louisiana federal district court applying Mississippi law,⁵ all read *Omnibank* the same way that Scottsdale does. Because Scottsdale followed the law, it did not, as a matter of law, commit bad

⁴ Panther Creek Constr., 2008 WL 886047; *QBE Ins. Corp.*, 2008 WL 5789764; *Mendrop*, 2007 WL 4200827; *Smith Poultry & Farm Supply*, 2006 WL 2077584.

⁵ Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Zurich American Ins. Co., 2007 WL 3487651, at *6-7 (E.D. La.) (no "occurrence" where the contractor's work was intended but negligently caused unintended harm).

faith. Architex's persistent and long-winded arguments to the contrary are not legitimate legal arguments.

ARGUMENT

I. No. "Occurrence," No Coverage.

A. No coverage under *Omnibank*.

Coverage is determined by the insuring agreement. The insuring agreement here provides that Scottsdale "will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of 'bodily injury' or 'property damage' to which this insurance applies." 2:284 at Section I.1.a. The insurance applies to "bodily injury" and "property damage" only if "[t]he 'bodily injury' or 'property damage' is caused by an 'occurrence'" *Id.* at Section I.1.b.

In *Omnibank*, this Court considered the meaning of "occurrence" as that term is used in the insuring agreement of a CGL policy. The policy in *Omnibank* defined the term "occurrence" exactly the same way that it is defined in Scottsdale's policy here. This Court held that the term "occurrence" refers to the insured's act, not to the unintended consequences of that act. *Omnibank*, 812 So.2d at 200. "It follows that bodily injury or property damage, expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured, cannot be the result of an accident." *Id.* at 200. If the insured intended to perform the underlying act, the resulting property damage is not accidental and, therefore, not an "occurrence." *Id.* at 200-01. That is exactly what happened here. There is no "occurrence" because Architex and its subcontractors intended to perform the construction work that led to the claims for coverage. Jerry Milton, Architex's coverage expert, admitted that Architex intentionally did the work on the hotel project. 19:2716. According to Milton, no work was unintended. *Id.* Architex itself admitted that it did not "accidentally" hire the subcontractors who worked on the project. 19:2710. It also admitted that the subcontractors intended to do the work they performed on the hotel. 19:2708. Failing to install rebar in a building is not an accident. Defective construction work that causes mold, rust, or water leaks likewise is not an accident. *Omnibank* precludes coverage for the owners' claims against Architex. On the basis of *Omnibank*, Scottsdale properly denied coverage.

B. No coverage under ACS.

The Fifth Circuit applied *Omnibank's* holding regarding what constitutes an "occurrence" to a construction defect case in *ACS Constr. Co., Inc., of Miss. v. CGU*, 332 F.3d 885 (5th Cir. 2003). In that case, ACS was sued for the defective installation of roof membranes by one of its subcontractors. *Id.* at 887.

In applying *Omnibank*, the Fifth Circuit found that the test for an "occurrence" is whether the insured intended the *underlying action*, not whether the insured intended the *consequences* of its actions. *Id.* at 888. If the insured intended the underlying action, then the action is not accidental and not an "occurrence." *Id.* at 888-89. The Fifth Circuit correctly applied *Omnibank*.

i.

Architex's "coverage" expert, Jerry Milton, agrees that the alleged property damage is to the hotel construction project itself:

- Q. In this case, what sustained the alleged property damage?
- A. From what I've been able to see the actual hotel building itself.

19:2716. Because there is no damage to "other property," there is no meaningful distinction between the facts of ACS and the facts of this case.

Installing insufficient rebar, or performing other defective work that caused mold, are not accidents, because Architex and its subcontractors intended the underlying actions. That they may have acted negligently in performing their work under the construction contract does not make the underlying work an accident or unintended. *Omnibank*, 812 So.2d at 200-02 (intentional acts negligently performed are not accidents). *ACS* further supports the conclusion that, under *Omnibank*, the owners' claims against Architex do not constitute an "occurrence."

C. The trial court correctly applied *Omnibank* and *ACS*.

The trial court found that *Omnibank* "read together the definition of 'occurrence' and the 'Expected or Intended Injury' exclusion, both of which are identical to Scottsdale's policy." 21:3017, M.R.E. 3. "The Supreme Court held that this policy language '*mandates* that coverage does not apply to 'bodily injury' or 'property damage' that is expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured." *Id.* (emphasis added). As the trial court noted, the "critical inquiry"

under *Omnibank* is "the insured party's conduct, not the resulting damages of that conduct." *Id*.

Turning to Architex's claim for coverage, the trial court found that "whatever work was improper or defective or was not completed, as alleged in the original complaint and via ensuing discovery, was nevertheless the result of intended action by the insured, Architex." *Id.* Architex had a contract to build a hotel, and it subcontracted that work to others. *Id.*

"Architex undoubtedly did not intend for any of those subcontractors to do defective or improper work. However, the hiring of those subcontractors was not an 'accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions' as the definition of 'occurrence' sets out plainly in the insurance policy." 21:3017-18, M.R.E. 3. Architex's hiring of the subcontractors was a "course consciously devised and controlled by' Architex which undeniably set in motion the 'chain of events leading to the injuries complained of." 21:3018, M.R.E. 3. The trial court concluded: "This is plain and unambiguous English; there is no ambiguity in the policy language nor lack of clarity in the Supreme Court's position on what that language means." *Id.*

The trial court observed that *Omnibank* is not a construction defect case, but noted that it "has available very persuasive guidance from our sister federal courts." *Id.* In particular, the trial court turned to the Fifth Circuit's decision in *ACS*.

II. Non-Mississippi Law is Contrary to Omnibank.

A. Omnibank correctly decided, Texas and Florida law irrelevant.

Continuing with its misguided effort to escape what the law is in favor of what it wants the law to be, Architex incorrectly states that a "vast majority of jurisdictions find coverage for subcontractor work." Architex Br. at p. 15. This is a misstatement of the law of other jurisdictions.

"The majority of jurisdictions have held that breach of contract is not an occurrence Similarly, a claim for faulty workmanship, in and of itself, is not an occurrence . . . because a failure of workmanship does not involve the fortuity required to constitute an accident." COUCH ON INSURANCE 3D, § 129:4 (2005). See also Mendrop, 2007 WL 4200827, at *6 and n. 3 (citing numerous authorities holding claims of faulty workmanship do not constitute an "occurrence"). To the extent that a majority of courts recognize an *exception* to this rule, it is that the CGL policy "does provide coverage if the faulty workmanship causes bodily injury or property damage to something *other than* the insured's work product." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The limited exception is of no assistance to Architex. Insufficient rebar and mold and mildew damage to the hotel are damage to Architex's work product itself. Architex even admits there is no damage to other property at issue here. 19:2709. Given these established facts it is unclear why Architex is advocating the "other property" exception, as it incorrectly argues that *ACS* did not involve

damage to "other property," but that somehow this case does. Architex Br. at pp. 12-13. At bottom, even under the "damage to other property exception" utilized in some other jurisdictions, Architex has *no* coverage.

In an attempt to escape this predicament, Architex relies on two cases that take *the most expansive view* of what constitutes an "occurrence" under a CGL policy: *Lamar Homes v. Mid-Continent Cas. Co.*, 242 S.W.3d 1 (Tex. 2007), and *United States Fire Insurance Company v. J.S.U.B., Inc.*, 979 So.2d 871 (Fla. 2007). Architex Br. at pp. 15-19.

Both of these cases were decided in 2007. Three states – Illinois, Indiana and Colorado – have already declined to follow J.S.U.B. See Lyerla v. Amco Ins. Co., 536 F.3d 684, 691 (7th Cir. 2008); Westfield Ins. Co. v. Sheehan Constr. Co., Inc., 580 F.Supp.2d 701, 711 (S.D. Ind. 2008); General Sec. Indemn. Co. v. Mountain States Mut. Cas. Co., 2009 WL 400053, at *6 (Colo. Ct. App.). Two states – Illinois and Colorado – have declined to follow Lamar Homes. See Lyerla, 536 F.3d at 691; General Sec. Indemn. Co., 2009 WL 400053, at *6 (explaining J.S.U.B. and Lamar Homes represent minority view that faulty workmanship may constitute an "occurrence").

More importantly, *Lamar Homes* and *J.S.U.B.* are flatly contrary to *Omnibank.* For example, Architex notes that under *Lamar Homes*, "a deliberate act, performed negligently, is an accident if the effect is not an intended or expected result..." Architex Br. at p. 16.

This Court reached the *opposite* conclusion in *Omnibank*: "an insurer's duty to defend under a general commercial liability policy does not extend to negligent actions that are intentionally caused by the insured." *Omnibank*, 812 So.2d at 202. "[A] claim resulting from intentional conduct which causes foreseeable harm is not covered, even where the actual injury or damages are greater than expected or intended." *Id.* at 201. When considering the opinions of the Texas Supreme Court and its own opinions on the same issue, this Court's opinions control.

Omnibank is not only controlling, it is also correctly decided. The trial court observed that *Omnibank* is a good rule of law that makes sense, that wisely requires general contractors to select good subcontractors, and that properly declines to make insurers "super-guarantors" of every construction contract:

Omnibank also comports with common sense. To find otherwise would relieve general contractors of their responsibility to pick good subcontractors and supervise them properly. In effect, the CGL carrier would become a "super-guarantor" for every construction contract; the broad reading urged by Architex would presumably permit a CGL claim for almost every defect which damages or reduces the value of the project. If this should be the law, a CGL carrier should know this up front so that risk analysis, underwriting procedures, and rates could take this into account before the policy is sold.

21:3018, M.R.E. 3.

If Architex insists on looking at non-Mississippi cases, instead of looking at how other states apply their own law, it should look at how they apply Mississippi law. A Louisiana federal district court applied Mississippi law to a construction defect case in Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Zurich American Ins. Co., 2007 WL 3487651 (E.D. La.).

In that case, the subcontractor's installation of exterior cladding and other materials caused the building to leak and mold and mildew to grow. *Id.* at *5. The court reviewed *Omnibank* and *ACS*. It concluded that there was no "occurrence" because, even if the subcontractor was only negligent, the act of installing the materials was not accidental or unintended. *Id.* at *6-7. Architex can try to pretend otherwise, but Mississippi law regarding what constitutes an "occurrence" in construction defect cases in well known in Mississippi and outside of Mississippi.

B. Extrinsic evidence is inadmissible.

It is undisputed that the Policy is unambiguous. 4:465; 4:496; 21:3018, M.R.E. 3. Where the policy is unambiguous, the Court should not resort to any extrinsic evidence to interpret the policy. *Cherry v. Anthony, Gibbs, Sage*, 501 So.2d 416, 419 (Miss. 1987). The drafting history of the CGL Form has no place in the interpretation of the unambiguous policy language at issue.

Moreover, any opinions, guidelines, formulas and the other information which Architex has erroneously advanced are not admissible evidence of the intent of the parties to the insuring agreement. Architex Br. at pp. 20-21. The same rule that bars consideration of drafting history in contract interpretation applies. *Cherry*, 501 So.2d at 419. Extrinsic evidence, in any form, simply does not alter the application of *Omnibank* to the facts of this case.

III. Architex Misstates the Record.

Architex misstates the record regarding several matters. The record is set straight below.

A. No admission of coverage.

Architex incorrectly argues that Charles Buchanan "admitted during a deposition that the mold and mildew claims present an arguable basis for coverage." Architex Br. at pp. 4, 24. Buchanan was asked about a letter from Architex's counsel to Scottsdale's counsel that was written *after* Architex filed its third-party complaint. The letter contains a short list of allegations purportedly made by the hotel owners, but cites no actual facts.

After referencing the list at Buchanan's deposition, Architex's counsel improperly asked Buchanan to give a legal conclusion, "[w]ould those allegations arguably come within coverage under the CGL policy?" Buchanan responded that "[a]rguably, you know, those allegations could possibly be construed as being covered under a CGL policy." Ex. 1:9 at pp. 98-102, R.E. 12.

Buchanan did not say anything about "mold and mildew." Nor was the question posed in terms of Mississippi law. Buchanan's testimony does not create coverage where none exists under the insuring agreement or under Mississippi law. The trial court rejected the false contention that coverage was admitted, and granted summary judgment to Scottsdale. 21:3020, M.R.E. 3. This Court should affirm.

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